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Independent Auditorsr Report

To the Members of the Board
Shanksville-Stonycreek School District
P.O. Box 128

1325 Cornerstone Road
Shanksville, PA 15560-0128

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the govemment¿l activities, the business-type activities,

each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Shanksville-stonycreek School District as of
and for ih" y"* ended June 3 0,2014, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise

the District's basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with

u""o*ting principÈs generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, implementation,

and mainlenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are

free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or eror.

Auditors' Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. 'We conducted our audit

in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United Søtes of America and the standards

applicable to financial audits containe d in Government Audíting Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the

Únit"¿ States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obøin reasonable assurance about

whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit includes performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial

statements. The procedures Jelected depend on the auditors' judgment, including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or çtror. In making those risk assessments,

the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the financial

ståtements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial

statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit

opinions.

Budfield Street Professional Building . 334 Budfield Street ' Suite 100 ' Johnstown, PA 15904

874-269 -4912' Fax: 874-266-9577
www.kotzancpa.com
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Opinions

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective
financial position of the governmental activities, business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate
remaining fund information of the Shanksville-Stonycreek School District as of June 30, 2014, and the respective
changes in financial position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof, for the year then ended in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Change in Accounting Principle

As discussed in Note 2l to the financial statements, in fiscal year 2014, the District adopted new accounting
guidance, GASB Statement No. 65, Items Previously Reported øs Assets and Liqbilitíes. Our opinion is not
modified with respect to this matter.

Other Matters

Required Supp lementary Informqtion

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management's discussion
and analysis and budgetary comparison information on pages 5 through 17 andpage 54, respectively, be presented
to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements,
is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial
reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context.
We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing
standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the
methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management's responses
to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic
financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited
procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Other Reporting Requíre d by Government Auditíng Støndørds

In accordanc e with Government Auditing Støndards, we have also issued our report dated Decemb er 29, 2014 on our
consideration of Shanksville-Stonycreek School District's internal control over financial reporting and on our tests
of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agr€ements and other matters.
The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on internal control over financial reporting
or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing
Standards in considering Shanksville-Stonycreek School Districl's internal control over financial reporting and
compliance.

/"* L/a' n24¿4¿'ìkr-'¡ /.A
Kotzan CPA & Associates, P.C.
Johnstown, Pennsylvania
December 29,2014
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Management's Discussion and Analysis
Shønkszt ille-Stony creek S cho ol D istrict

2013-2014

The Management's Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) of the Shanksville-Stonycreek School District's (the School
District) financial performance provides an overall review of the School District's financial activities forthe frscal
year ended June 30, 2014. The MD&A is to provide reader friendly insight into management's analysis of the audit.
This MD&A looks at the district's financial performance as a whole, although readers should review the
independent auditor's transmittal letter and notes to the financial statements to enhance their understanding of the
district's financial performance. Certain comparative information between the current year and prior year is
required to be presented.

This discussion and analysis is part of the required supplementary information specified in the Governmental
Accounting Standards Board's (GASB) Statement No. 34 - Basic Financial Statements - and Management's
Discussion and Analysis -for State qnd Locql Governments issued in June 1999. GASB Statement No. 34 requires
ceftain comparative information to be presented between the current and the prior year and is detailed herein
accordingly.

Description of the School District

The Shanksville-Stonycreek School District is nestled along the slopes of the Allegheny Mountains in the central
part of Sr¡merset County about eight miles northeast of Somerset, Pennsylvania and 30 miles northwest of
Cumberland, Maryland. It is comprised of the township of Stonycreek and the boroughs of Indian Lake and
Shanksville. The school district has a population of approximately 2,900 residents.

Much of the land is productively engaged in farming. Lumbering and strip mining are important components of the
local economy. The area has vast opportunities for the expansion of tourism and recreation in a multi-seasonal
climate. The Flight 93 National Memorial is also part of the district and is expected to have an impact on the local
economy as well.

The District's facility is contained within one building. The District has an enrollment of approximately 358 which
includes grades Pre-K through Grade 12.

The District employs 63 regular employees, with roughly 25 part-time substitutes at any time. The teaching staff
consists of 38 full+ime professionals. Teachers in the District are members of the Pennsylvania State Education
Association (PSEA) and the Shanksville-Stonycreek Education Association (SSEA), which is the representative
bargaining unit. The SSEA contract is due to expire June 30,2018.

Financial Highlights

Key financial highlights for the year ending June 30, 2014 are as follows:

t District-wide net position increased S319,780

* Total fund balances of all governmental funds equaled $2,910,967

* Unassigned general fund balance equaled $701,370

t Committed general fund balance equaled $2,080,000. This amount was committed as follows

* PSERS Retirement
* TechnologyReplacement
.|. CurriculumEnhancement
.|. Post-Employment Benefits
* Debt Service

5
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Shanksville-Stonycreek School District
Mønagement's Díscussíon ønd Anølysís (MD&A)

* Capital Projects fund balance equaled fi112,162

* Debt Service fund balance equaled 52,182

* Total general fund revenues exceeded budget by 5234,270

* Total general fund expenses were $718,382 under budget

* The District's proprietary fund/business-type activity (cafeteria) had a decrease in net position of
912,769

Long Term Issues and Commitments

* Long Term Debt: Outstanding bond issues as of June 30,2014 include the Series of 2014, Series of
2012,andtheseries of 20ll withacombinedtotaloutstandingprincipalbalanceof$6,100,000.

* Long Term Debt also consists of the District's estimated share of the refinanced Series of
2004 area vocational-technical school's general obligation bond. The District's share of the
balance outstanding at June 30,2014 is $388,556.

This annual report consists of three parts: management's discussion and analysis (this section), the basic financial
statements and the required supplementary information. Management's discussion and analysis is intended to serve
as an introduction to the District's basic financial statements.

The District's basic financial statements include two types of statements, which present different views of the
District. The first type of statements are the District-wide Financial Statements that provide both short-term and
long-term information about the District's overall financial status on a full accrual basis of accounting. The
remaining statements are Fund tr'inancial Statements that focus on individual parts of the District, reporting the
District's operations in more detail than the District-wide financial statements.

The Governmental fund statements indicate how the District financed its basic services such as regular and special
education. Proprietary fund statements offer hnancial information about activities the District operates like a

business, such as its Food Service Program. Fiduciary fund statements provide information about ltnancial
relationships where the School District acts solely as a trustee or agent for the benefit of others to whom the
resources in question belong. For this School District, these are student activity funds.

The financial statements also include notes that explain some of the information in the statements, and provide more
detailed data.
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Shanksville-Stonycreek School District
Mønagement's Discussíon ønd Anølysís (MD&A)

Figure A-1 shows how the various parts of this arurual report are arranged and related to one another,

Figure A-1
Required components of

Shanksville-Stonycreek School District's
Financial Report

Summary Detail

Required
Supplementary

Information

Management's
Discussion and

Analysis

Basic Financial
Statements

Government-
wide Financial

Statements

Fund Financial
Statements

Notes to the
Financial

Statements
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Shanksville-Stonycreek School District
Management's Díscussion and Analysís (MD&A)

Figure A-2 summarizes the major features of the financial statements, including the portion of the District they

cover and the types of information they contain.

Figure A-2
Major Features of Shanksville-Stonycreek School District's

District-wide and Fund Financial Statements
District-\ilide

Statements Fund Financial Statements

Governmental Funds Proprietary Funds Fiduciary Funds

Scope Entire District (except
fiduciary funds)

The activities of the
District that are not
proprietary or fiduciary,
such as education,
administration and
community services

Activities the District
operate similar to
private business -
Food Services

Instances in which
the District
administers
resources on behalf
of someone else -
student activity
funds and private
purpose trust funds

Required
financial
statements

Statement of net position
Statement of activities

Balance Sheet
Statement of revenues,
expenditures, and
changes in fund balance

Statement of net
position
Statement of
revenues, expenses
and changes in net
position
Statement of cash
flows

Statement of
fiduciary net
position
Statement of
changes in
fiduciary net
position

Accounting
basis and
measurement
focus

Accrual accounting and
economlc resourees
focus

Modified accrual
accounting and current
fi nancial resources focus

Accrual accounting
and economic
resources focus

Accrual accounting
and economic
resources focus

Type of
asselliability
information

All assets and liabilities
both financial and
c apital, and short-term
and long-term

Only assets expected to
be used up and liabilities
that come due during the
year or soon thereafter;
no capital assets or long-
term liabilities included

All assets and
liabilities, both
financial and capital,
and short-term and
long-term

All assets and
liabilities, both
short-term and
long-term

Type of
inflow-
outflow
information

All revenues and
expenses during year,
regardless ofwhen cash
is received or paid

Revenues for which cash

is received during or
soon after the end ofthe
year; expenditures when
goods or services have
been received and
payment is due during
the year or soon
thereafter

All revenues and
expenses during year,
regardless ofwhen
cash is received or
paid

All revenues and
expenses during
year, regardless of
when cash is
received or paid
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Shanksville-Stonycreek School District
Mønøgement's Discussion ønd Anølysís (MD&A)

District-Wide Financial Statements

The District-wide financial statements are designed to provide the reader of the District's Annual Financial Report
with a broad overview of the financial activities in a manner similar to a private sector business. The District-wide
financial statements include the Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities.

The Statement of Net Posítion includes all of the District's assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, and

deferred inflows ofresources. All ofthe current year's revenues and expenses are accounted for in the Statement of
Activities regardless of when cash is received or paid.

The Statement of Activities reports the change in net position. Net position - the difference between the District's
assets and deferred outflows of resources, and liabilities and deferred inflows of resources - is one way of measuring

the District's financial health or position. Over time, increases or decreases in the District's net position are an

indicator of whether its financial position is improving or deteriorating, respectively. To assess the District's overall
health one must also consider additional factors such as changes in enrollment, increases (decreases) to the District's
long-term debt, changes in the District's property tax base, changes in the State's funding of educational costs,

changes in the economy, and the condition of or need for improvements or expansion to existing school facilities.

In the District-wide financial statements, the District's activities are divided into two categories as follows:

Governmental Activities: Most of the District's basic services are included here, such as regular and

special education, maintenance and operation of plant services, transportation services and administrative
services. Property taxes, along with state formula aid, finance most of these activities. Fixed assets and
related debt are also supported by taxes and intergovernmental activities.

Business-type Activities: The District charges fees to cover the cost of certain services such as its food
service program.

Fund Financial Statements

The fund financial statements provide detailed information about the School District's operations. The School

District is required to provide detailed information for its "major'' funds. Funds are accounting components the

District uses to keep track of specific sources of funding and spending on particular programs.

The District has three types of funds as follows:

Governmental Funds are used to account for essentially the same functions reported as governmental activities in
the District-wide financial statements. Most of the District's basic services are included in the governmental funds,

which generally focus on (l) how cash and other financial assets can readily be converted into cash inflows and

outflows and (2) balances left at year-end that are available for spending. Therefore, the governmental funds
statements provide a short-term view of the School's operations. They are reported using an accounting method
called modified accrual which measures amounts using only cash and other short-term assets and liabilities
(receivables and payables) that will soon be converted to cash or will soon be paid with cash. Governmental fund
information helps you determine whether there are more or fewer financial resources that can be spent in the near

future to finance the District's programs. The District's govemmental funds are the Gcneral Fund, the Capital
Projects Fund, and the Debt Service Fund.

Because the focus of fund financial statements is narrower than that of the District-wide statements, it is useful to
compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar information presented for governmental
açtivities in the District-wide Statements. By doing so, readers may better understand the long-term impact of the

District's near-term financing decisions. Reconciliations for both the Governmental Fund Balance Sheet to
Statement of Net Position District-wide and the Governmental Funds Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and

Changes in Fund Balances to the Statement of Activities are provided to facilitate this comparison between
governmental funds and governmental activities.

a

a
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Shanksville-Stonycreek School District
Mønøgement's Díscussion ønd Anølysís (MD&A)

Proprietary Funds are comprised of the services for which the District charges a fee. Proprietary funds are

reported on a full accrual basis of accounting in both the fund financial statements and the District-wide financial
statements. A district's Enterprise Funds (one type of proprietary fund) are the same as its business-type activities
but provide more detail and additional information, such as cash flows. The District currently has one enterprise
fund, its Food Service Fund.

Fiduciary Funds are the assets that the District serves as the trustee of, such as the student activity funds. The
District is responsible for ensuring that the assets reported in these funds are used only for their intended purposes

and by those to whom the assets belong. The District excludes these activities from the District-wide financial
statements because it cannot use these assets to finance its operations.

Financial Analysis of the Dístrict as a Whole

The District's financial position is a result of several financial transactions including the net results of activities, the
acquisition and payment ofdebt, the acquisition and disposal ofcapital assets and the depreciation ofcapital assets.

l0



Shanksville-Stonycreek School District
Mønøgement's Discussion ønd Anølysis (MD&A)

Figure A-3 summarizes the assets, liabilities, and net position of the District at June 30,2014

Assets

Current Assets

Capital Assets

Total Assets

Deferred Outflows of Resources

Liabilities
Current Liabilities

Long-Term Liabilities

Total Liabilities

Deferred Inflows of Resources

Net Position
Invested in Capital Assets,

net of Related Debt
Restricted

Unrestricted

Total Net Position

$ 10.910.641 S 9.131.381

$ 0$ 0

s 3,216,770 s 1,216,970

4,678.8694 t25 780

$ 7.342.ss0 $ s.89s.839

s 821,726

114,344

2,632,021

$ 10.9s1.097 $ 9,174.771

$ 5,948,861

5.002.236 *

s 3,237,062
4.r28.258

Total o/o

Change
2013-14

$ 3,879,586

5.295.185

19,3601l

0.00%

s 1,228,672

4.680.102

0

24.65Vo

0.00%

$ 600,348

115,444

2,5s0,20s

g- 255P27 e.levo

Figure A-3
Net Position as of June 30,2014 - (District-Wide)

Business-Type
Governmental Activities Activities

2014 2013 2014 2013
Total School District
2014 2013

$ 5,920,230
4.990,411

$ 3,853,087

5.278.294 *
$ 28,631

I 1,825

$-4!lÉ
$0

s 20,292

2,478

$_22110

$___q

$ 26,499

16,891

$__€'39q

$0

s 11,702

1,233

$_12¿11

s______q

$ 16,891

0

13,564

$_t9lr1

$ 0 $ 0

$ 7.36s.320 $ 5.908.774

$ 0 $ 0 $ 0$

2,536,641 *

$ 3.s68.091 $ 3.235.542

$ 583,457 $ 11,825

115,444 0

5,861

$_lz,rqq

$ 833,551

114,344

2.637,882 *

$ 3.585.777

* Restated to remove bond costs per GASB Statement No. 65 ($130,433).

Current assets are largely comprised of cash and cash equivalents which represent approximately $4.8 million at June 30, 2014. Capital assets represent land,
buildings and equipment less accumulated depreciation. Current liabilities are comprised primarily of accounts payable, accrued salaries and wages, and the
current portion of long-term liabilities, representing an approximate total of $3, 100,000 at June 30, 2014. The current portion of long-term liabilities includes the
advance refunding of the Series of 2009 bonds, payable in September 2014.

The increase in current assets, offset by the increase in total liabilities and decrease in capital assets resulted in an increase in net position of approximately
$320,000 in fiscal year 2014.
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Shanksville-Stonycreek School District
Manøgement's Discussion ønd Analysís (MD&A)

Figure A-4 summarizes the revenues, expenses, and changes in net position of the District for the year ended June 30, 2014.

Figure A-4
Changes in Government-wide Net Position

For the Year Ended June 30, 2014

Governmental Business-type
Activities Activities

Revenues:
Program Revenues:

Charges for Services

Operating Grants and Contributions

Capital Grants and Contributions

Total Program Revenues

General Revenue:

Property and Other Taxes Levied
Grants, subsidies, contributions
Investment Earnings

Miscellaneous Income

Transfers

Total General Revenues

Expenses:

Instruction
Instructional Student Support
Admin and Financial Support Services

Operating and Maintenance
ofPlant Services

Pupil Transportation
Student Activities
Interest on Long-term Debt

Food Service

Total Expenses

Increase (Decrease) in Net Position

Beginning Net Position, restated

Ending Net Position

2014

$ 58,001

922,821
125,789

1,106,61I

2013

$ 51,298
g 1g,7gg

114,884

985,970

2014

$ 99,334

72,695
0

2013

$ 102,930

71,023
0

20r4

$ 157,335

995,516
r25,789

1,278,640

2013

g 154,228

890,81 I
I14,884

1,159,923t72,029 173,953

Total
School District

Total%o
Change
2013-14

10.23%

2.90o/.

3,702,453
1,648,362

2,904
529

(60.000)

5,294,248

3,502,135
1,636,342

3,13 1

1,876
(73,399)

5,070,085 143 88 4.to%

3,502,135
1,636,342

3,135
1,976

0

3,399,493

493,032
860,960 *

558,957

349,236

t02,689
136,207

245 32

0 0 3,702,453
0 0 1,648,362

3 4 2,907

00s29
60,000 73,399 0

60,003 73,403 5,354,251

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

32

3,509,613
599,074

881,945

553,617

276,380
I13,069
134,612

0

6,068,310

332,549

3,235,542

$ 3,568,091

3,399,493

493,032
860,960 *

558,957

349,236

102,689

136,207

0

0

0

0

0

244,801

244,801

(12,769)

30,455

q_l_zÍ!q

3,509,613

599,074

881,945

553,617

276,380
I13,069
134,612

244,801

6,3l3,lrl
319,780

3,265,997

ï:;3:u7

0

0

0

5,889,564

166,491

3,069,051

$3,235,542

24s

245,332

2,024

28,431

$__19lrr

6,134,896

168,515

3,09'7,482

ï32þ:Ê27

* Restated to remove amortizationof bond costs per GASB 65 ($26,651).
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Shanksville-Stonycreek School District
Mønøgement's Dìscussion and Anølysis (MD&A)

The School District experienced an overall increase in net position of $332,549 for fiscal year 2014, with an overall
increase in both revenues and expenditures compared to the prior year.

The table below reflects the cost ofprogram services and the net cost ofthose services after taking into account the
program revenues and unrestricted state entitlements.

Total Cost

of Services

Net Cost

of Services

Total Cost

of Services

Net Cost

of Services

2014 2014 2013 2013

Program Expenses

Governmental Activities:
Instruction

Instructional student support

Administration

Maintenance

Pupil transportation

Student activities

Interest and fiscal charges

Net program expenses

$ 3,509,613

599,074

881,945

553,617

276,380

113,069

134,612

$ 3,388,483

493,032

887,61I

558,957

349,236

102,689

136,207

$ 6,068,310 4,961,699

(r,648,362)

916,215

s 2,617,778

493,032

880,484

444,073

261,390

97,291
136,207

4,930,245

(1,636,342)

s 2,638,334

599,074

875,287

427,828

182,024

104,540

134,612

$5,

Less: Unrestricted state entitlements

Total governmental activities s 3,3 13,337 s 3,293,903

Business-type activities:

Food service g 244,801 s 72,772 s 245,332 S 71,379

Governmental Activities
Total net cost of service increased minimally fuom2012-2013 to 2013-2014.

Business-Type Activities
Food service management-the cafeteria continues to rely on subsidy from the general fund for operations. The

dependency has increased greatly over the past couple of years with the increased menu restrictions placed on the

school district by the federal government.
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Shanksville-Stonycreek School District
Manøgemenf's Discussion ønd Analysis (MD&A)

Figure A-5 breaks out expenditures by function per the fund financial statements (general fund) with a comparison

to the prior year as well as current year budget variances.

Figure A-5
Expenditures by Function - Budget vs. Actual

Actual Actual Increase/

2013-14 2012-13 (Decrease)

Expenses Expenses From P/YFunction Description

Regular Educational Programs

Special Programs

Vocational Education
Other Instructional Programs

Community/junior college programs

Pre-kindergarten

Support Services - Pupil
Support Services - Instructional Staff
Support Services - Administration
Support Services - Pupil Health

Support Services - Business

Operation and Maintenance

Student Transportation Services

Other Support Services

Student Activities
Community Services

Scholarships and Awards

Capital Outlay
Debt Service

Fund Transfers

Budgetary Reserve

Total Expenditures

Revenues/Other financing sources

Net Change

1 100

1200

1300

1400

1700

1800

2100
2200
2300
2400
2500
2600
2700
2900
3200
3300

3400
4000
5 100

5200
5900

s2,43s,657
472,551
278,788

4,196
3,455

81,757

161,262

387,836

576,664

89,538

148,603

514,871

259,580
3,256

101,020

1,757

3,500
0

44,716
800,921

0

6,369,928

6,426,902

s 56,974

g 2,303,894
445,084
290,858

20,447

3,025
79,255

135,132
324,532

568,823

85,914
133,921

510,189

326,670
3,387

90,807
1,612
3,500

0

44,141

764,677
0

6,135,868

6,181,176

$_iÉgq

$ 131,763

27,467
(12,070)
(16,251)

430

2,502
26,130
63,304

7,841
3,624

14,682

4,682
(67,090)

(13 l)
70,213

145

0

0

575

36,244
0

s 2,779,660
504,950

320,000

I 1,000

6,000

93,250
155,300

398,825
665,600

96,275

177,000

568,750

301,600

5,000

133,400

1,700

4,000

20,000

38,000

758,000

50,000

$ 344,003

32,399
41,212

6,804
2,545

11,493

(5,962)
10,989

88,936

o,tJt
28,397

53,879

42,020
1,744

32,380
(s7)
500

20,000
(6,716)

(42,921)
50,000

2013-14
Budeet

(Over)/
Under
Budeet

718,382

234,270

234,060

245,726

7,088,3 1o

6,192,632

$_$2ff2Ð

l4



Shanksville-Stonycreek School District
Management's Díscussíon and Analysis (MD&A)

General Fund Budgetary Highlights

Over the course of the year, the School District revises its budget as it attempts to deal with changes in revenues and

expenditures. State law requires that the budget be amended to ensure that total expenditures do not exceed total
appropriations. A schedule showing the School District's detail budget amounts compared with amounts actually
paid and received is provided in Figure A-5. Significant variances in line items are discussed below.

A. Total General Fund Revenues exceeded budget by 52 I 5,71 8.

l. Budgetary estimate differed significantly in the following areas:

a. Local revenues:

i. Real Estate Taxes - Collections yielded $132,014 over the 93Yo collection rate originally
budgeted.

ii. PILT (Payment In Lieu of Taxes) - 512,682 is due to unbudgeted reimbursement for the Real

Estate Taxes lost due to the federal government owning property that makes up the Flight 93

Memorial.

iii. Earned Income Taxes - $35,824 is due to the fact that the earned income of the School District
residents exceeded initial estimates. The budget frgure for this particular revenue included a

large estimated reduction due to the number of layoffs in the immediate area.

iv. Delinquent Real Estate Taxes - $38,743 is due to an actual collection of delinquent taxes in the
year compared to conservative estimates.

v. Admissions - $5,475 was due to the unbudgeted revenues for athletic admissions.

vi. Revenues from Local Governments - 549,472 was due to unbudgeted revenues generated

through contracted services with a neighboring school district.

vii. Donations - Were well over the budgeted figure of $7,500 and included a donation from the
Goldman Sachs Philanthropy Fund ($15,435) to help with technology and financial math

educating.

B. Total General Fund Expenditures were under budget by $895,678.

l. The reduction ofGeneral Fund Expenditures, along with the increase in revenues, added $56,974 to the

fund balance compared to the reduction that was originally budgeted.

2. The budget variances in figure A-5 were due to the District not doing any year-end budgetary transfers

to balance the overages with the savings.

3. Salaries were under budget by $90,676.

a. The District did not need to utilize substitutes at level that was budgeted.

b. The District realizes savings in athletics in some of the positions that are normally paid.

4. Benefits were under budget by 5536,728.

a. For retirement, the District budgets at a higher rate to help build a balance for future years when
the rates are expected to spike.

b. The medical insurance premiums were reduced lower than what was originally budgeted due to
new collective bargaining agreement that created premium savings moving to a new Qualified
High Deductible Healthcare Plan along with much better performance in claims in the district and

thc hcalth consortium.

l5



Shanksville-Stonycreek School District
Management's Díscussion and Analysis (MD&A)

5. Supplies and equipment were under budget by $94,825.

a. The District continues to limit the amount of supplies that are kept on hand since the District is
receiving discount pricing throughout the year. This reduces the amount of overstock that is
purchased and kept onsite.

b. The District also continues to monitor the amount of outside services we use throughout the year.

c. Less new and replacement equipment was purchased due to the district effectively utilizing the

equipment already on hand.

Revenue - Fund Financials - General Fund

The revenue for the school district comes from local, state, and federal sources. During the 2013-14 fiscal year,

53,806,774localfunds (59%),$2,431,347 state funds (38%) and S188,781 federal funds (3%) were recognizedby
the general fund.

Local funding is primarily from real estate taxes (53,121,192) and earned income taxes ($325,280). Delinquent taxes
in the amount of $188,743 were collected during the frscal year.

Basic Education Subsidy of $ I ,475,906 makes up 6lYo of the total grants, subsidies and contributions received from
the state.

Other significant receipts for the state include Special Education, $229,431; Rental and Sinking Fund Subsidy,

5125,789; State Property Tax Reduction Allocation,$172,455; and Revenue for Social Security and Retirement
Payments, $307,593.

Technology

The importance of technology is always a part of the District's philosophy and planning. During fiscal year 2014,

the District continued upgrading the Classroom For the Future laptops with less expensive Google Chromebooks.

Capital Assets

Figure A-6 illustrates changes in capital assets, net of depreciation, by asset type.

Figure A-6
Capital Assets Net of Depreciation

Land
Site improvements
Buildings
Equipment and furniture

Total

Governmental
Activities

2014 2013
s 24,792 g 24,792

234,430 276,679
4,513,059 4,769,377
218.130 207.446

s4.990.411l 55-278-294

Business-Type
Activities
2014 20t3

s 0s 0
00
00

I1.825 16.891

$rL825 $_lé,891

Total
School District
2014 2013

s 24,792 S 24,792
234,430 276,679

4,513,059 4,769,377
229.955 224.337

$5*002236 $5295J!5

o/o Change
2013-t4

-5.s3%

While capital additions for the District in2013-14 totaled $69,566, depreciation expense totaled $362,515 resulting
in a decrease in net capital assets over prior year.
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Shanksville-Stonycreek School District
Manøgement's Discassion and Analysís (MD&A)

Long-Term Debt

Figure A-7 summarizes the change in long-term debt for the year ended June 30,2014 compared to the year ended
June 30, 2013.

Figure A-7
Outstanding Long-Term Debt

2014 20t3

Total
School District

Total
Percentage

Change

General Obligation Bonds, Series 2014

General Obligation Bonds, Series 2012

General Obligation Bonds, Series 2011
General Obligation Bonds, Series 2009

Technology Debt

Total

$ 2,000,000

1,060,000

1,095,000

1,945,000

388,556

$0
I,315,000
1,100,000

2,305,000

419 153

N/A
-r9.39%
-0.45%

-15.62%

-7.30%

26.26%$ 6,488,556 q_Il!2Ë1

Currently Known Facts, Decisions or Conditions

The School District does not expect significant growth in the near future given the residential nature of the local
economy. The School District raised taxes in 20ll-2012 above the Act I index with a retirement exception. The
School District also filed for Act I exceptions to raise taxes above the Act I Index for the 2012-2013 year and the
current 2013-2014 school year. As state funding continues to decrease or be completely eliminated, the School
District is evaluating the programs to determine whether or not to continue the program with local dollars. Programs
like Dual Enrollment and Intervention services are being maintained at some level by local dollars since they have
proven to be a beneht to the academic process in the District.

The Superintendent left the District in November 2014. The Secondary Principal was appointed by the Board as the
acting Superintendent in the interim. The future make-up of the district administration is currently being evaluated
in an attempt to potentially lower administrative costs for the District.

Contacting the District's Financial Management

This financial report is designed to provide our citizens and taxpayers with a general overview of the School
District's finances. If you have any questions about this report or need additional information, contact the Business
Office, Shanksville-Stonycreek School District.
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Shanksville-Stonycreek School District
Statement of Net Position

June 30,2014

Govenrmental
Activities

Business-Type

Activities Total
Assets

Current assets:

Cash and equivalents
Invesûnents

Taxes receivable
Intergovemmental receivables

Other receivables

Inventories

Total current assets

Noncurrent assets:

Land
Depreciable capital assets, net

Total noncurrent assets

Total assets

Deferred Outflows of Resources

Total assets and deferred outflows ofresources

5,920,230

24,792
4,965,619

4,990,411

10,910,641

0

$ 10,910,641

See accompanying notes to the basic financial ståtements.
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$ 40,456 $ 10,951,097

$ 4,802,006
248,249
572,529
282,193

0
15,253

$ 13,408

0
0

9,990
5

5,228

29,631

0
11,825

ll,g25

40,456

0

$ 4,815,414
248,249
572,529
292,183

5

20,491

5,948,861

24,792
4,977,444

5,002,236

10,951,097

0



Shanksville-Stonycreek School District
Statement of Net Position

June 30, 2014

Govemmental
Activities

Business-Type

Activities Total
Liabilities
Current liabilities:

Internal balances

Due to other governments

Accounts payable

Current portion of compensated absences

Accrued salaries and wages

Accrued interest payable

Payroll deductions and withholdings
Unearned revenue

Current portion of long-term liabilities

Other current liabilities

Total current liabilitres

Noncurrent liabilities:
Bonds payable, net

Long-term portion of compensated absences

Other long-term financing

Other post-employrnent benefits (OPEB)

Total noncurrent liabilities

Total liabilities

Deferred Inflows of Resources

Net Position
Invested in capital assets, net ofdebt
Restricted for:

Debt service (expendable)

Capital proj ects (expendable)

Unrestricted

Total net position

Total liabilities, deferred inflows of resources,

and net position

7,342,550

0

821,726

2,182
t12,162

2,632,021

3,568,091

$ 10,910,641

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
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3,585,777

ï___40As6_ $ 10,951,097

$ (14,646)

33,351
141,895

13,715
339,100

14,840
15,812

0

2,639,988
32 715

3,216,770

$ 14,646

20,292

22,770

I1,825

0

0
5,861

17,686

$o
33,351

142,304
14,209

339,100
14,840
15,812

4,743
2,639,988

32,715

3,237,062

3,503,685

129,554
358,568

136,451

4,128,258

7,36s,320

833,551

2,182
ll2,l62

2,637,882

0
409

494
0

0

0

743

0

0

4,

3,503,685
127,076
358,568

136,451

0

2,478
0

0

125 780 2,478

00



Shanksville-Stonycreek School District
Statement of Activities

For the Year Ended June 30, 2014

Program Revenues

Expenses

$ 3,509,613
599,074

88 1,945

553,617
276,380
I13,069
t34,612

Charges for
Services

s 49,472
0

58,001

99,334

$ 157,335

Operating Grants

and Contributions

821,807
0

6,658

Capital Grants

and Contributions

Net (Expenses) Revenues and

Chanees in Net Position
Business-Type

Activities
Governmental

Activities
Governmental Actirities :

Instruction
Instructional student support
Administration and financial

support
Operations and maintenance

ofplant
Pupil transportation
Student activities
Interest on long-term debt

Total governmental activities

Business-Type Activities:
Food service

6.068.310

244.801

Total primary government $ 6.3l3"lll

General Revenues:
Taxes levied
Grants, subsidies and contributions, not restricted
Investment earnings
Miscellaneous
Transfers

Total general revenues

Change in net position

Net position, beginning of year, restated

Net position, end of year

$ 995,516 $ 12s,789

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.

2l

$(2,638,334)
(599,074)

(875,28'7)

(427,828)
(t82,024)
(104,540)
/134.6t2\

125 789 (4,961,699)

Ø.961.699\

3,702,453
1,648,362

2,904
s29

(60,000)

5.294.248

332,549

3,235,542

$$$ 0

0

0

9

0

0
0

(72.772\

(72,772)

0
0
3

0

60,000

60,003

(12,'769)

30,455

s___rz,68q

Total

$ (2,638,334)
(599,074)

(875,287)

(427,828)
(182,024)
(104,540)
1134.612\

ø"961.699\

(72.7',|2\

(5.034.471\

3,702,453
1,648,362

2,907
s29

0

5.354.25t

319,780

3.265.997

0

0

0

0
0

0

0

0

0
0

8,529

0

94,356
0

0

78t2s

0

922.821

72.69s

0

0 0

$ 3.568.091 I 3,58s,777



Shanksville-Stonycreek School District
Balance Sheet

Governmental Funds
June 30,2014

General

Fund

MajorFund
Debt Service

Fund

Non-MajorFund
Capital Projects

Fund

Total
Governmental

Funds

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Invesünents

Taxes receivable
Due from other firnds

Due from other governments

Inventories

Total assets

Deferred Outllows of Resources

Total assets and deferred

outflows ofresources

Liabilities
Due to other governments

Accounts payable

Accrued salaries and benefits
Payroll deductions and withholding

Other current liabilities

Toøl liabilities

Deferred Inflows of Resources

Delinquent taxes receivable

Total deferred inflows of resources

Fund Balance
Nonspendable

Restricted

Committed

Unassigned

Total fund balance

Total liabilities, deferred inflows of
resources, and fund balance

$ 3,835,517 s 1,987,197 ï__rt2J62- $

s 2,702,647
248,249

572,529
14,646

282,193

15,253

3,835,517

0

$ 4,802,006
249,249
572,529

14,646

282,193

15,253

)1l$$ ,987 197

0

0

0

0

0

62

0

0

0

0

0

1,987,197

0

l12,l62

0

5,934,976

0

$ 33,351 $

131,395
339,100

15,8r2
3,200

0

0

l5

0

0,500
$ 0

0
0

0

0

$ 33,351

141,895

339,100

15,812

1,977,715

522,858 1,985,015 0 2,507,9',73

516,036 0 0 516,036

516,036 0 0 516,036

15,253
0

2,090,000

70t,370

0

t2,Ia 1

0

62

0

0

15,253

114,344
2,080,000

701,370

82

0

0

2,796,623 2,182 112,162 2,910,967

$ 3,83s,sr7 s 1,987,L97 $

See accompanying notes to the basic frnancial statements.
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Shanksville-Stonycreek School District
Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds Balance Sheet

To the Statement of Net Position
June 30, 2014

Total fund balance - governmental funds

Amounts reported for governmental actÍvities in the
statement of net position are different because:

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial
resources and therefore are not reported as assets in
governmental funds. The cost of the assets is $10,944,997 and
the accumulated depreciation is $5,954,586.

Property taxes receivable will be collected in the future, but
are not available soon enough to pay for the current period's
expenditures and therefore are recorded as deferred inflows of
resources in the funds.

Long-term liabilities are not due and payable in the current
period and therefore are not reported as liabilities in the funds.
Long-term liabilities at year end consist of:

$(4,155,000)
38,559

(52,244)
(14,840)

(140,791)
(388,556)
û36.451)

s 2,910,967

4,990,411

516,036

(.4.849.323)

$_3J68,091

Bonds payable
Unamortized bond discounts
Unamortized bond premiums
Accrued interest payable
Compensated absences

Technology Center debt
OPEB obligation

Net position of governmental activities

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
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Shanksville-Stonycreek School District
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances

Governmental Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2014

General

Fund

Major Fund
Debt Service

Fund

Non-MajorFund
Capital Projects

Fund

Total
Governmental

Funds

Revenues
Local sources

State sources

Federal sources

Total revenues

Expenditures
Instruction
Support services

Non-instructional services

Debt service (principal and interest)

Total expenditures

Excess ofrevenues over (under)

expenditures

Other financing sources (uses)

Interfund fansfers
Refunding bonds issued

Bond premium

Refunded bond issue

Total other financing sources (uses)

Net change in fund balance

Fund balance, beginning ofyear

Fund balance, end ofyear

s 3,806,774
2,431,347

188 78r

6,426,902

$ $J

0

0

l5
0

0

$ 3,806,792

2,431,347

188,781

J l5 6,426,920

3,276,404
2,141,610

106,277

44,716

0

58,931

0
'733.901

I0,3

0

l6
0

0

3,276,404
2,210,857

106,277

778,617

5,569,007 792,832 10,316 6,372,155

857,895 (792,829)

733,901
2,000,000

35,624
(1,974,515\

(10,301) 54,765

7(800,92 1)

0

0

0

,020
0

0

0

(60,000)

2,000,000

35,624
(1,974,515)

(800,921) 795,010 7,020 r09

55,87456,974 2,181 (3,281)

2,',739,649 115,443 2.855,093

s 2,796,623 s 2,182 ï______rt2]62 8 2,910,967

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
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Shanksville-Stonycreek School District
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and

Changes in Fund Balances to the Statement of Activities
For the Year Ended June 30, 2014

Total net change in fund balance - governmental funds

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the
statement of activitÍes are different because:

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures.
Howeve¡ in the statement of activities, the cost of those assets

is allocated over their estimated useful lives as depreciation
expense. This is the amount by which depreciation expense
exceeded capital outlays in the current period.

Capital outlays $ 69,566
Depreciation expense (.357.449\

Because some property taxes will not be collected for several
months after the District's year end, they are not considered as

"available" revenues in the governmental funds. Deferred
inflows of resources from tax revenues increased by this
amount this year.

Interest on long-term debt is recognized in the governmental
funds when it is due. In the st¿tement of activities, expense is
recognized as interest accrues. Accrued interest expense
decreased by this amount this year.

In the governmental funds, compensated absences aÍe
measured by the amounts used. The statement of activities
measures by the amount earned. The liability for compensated
absences increased by this amount this year.

Post-employment benefits are recognized as expenditures in
the governmental funds when they are paid. In the statement
of activities, post-employment benehts are recognized as

expenses when incurred. This amount represents the
difference.

$ 55,874

(287,883)

33,939

22,923

(7,418)

(41,635)
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Shanksville-Stonycreek School District
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and

Changes in Fund Balances to the Statement of Activities
For the Year Ended June 30,2014

The proceeds and principal payments on long-term debt
provide and consume current financial resources of
governmental funds, respectively. However, they respectively
increase or reduce long-term liabilities on the statement of net
position. Further, the effect of bond discounts and premiums
are reported in the frrnds in the year ofissue but are deferred
and amortized in the statement of activities. The effect is
shownbelow:

Net proceeds on20l4 Refunding Bond
Premium on20l4 Refunding Bond
Bond principal payments
Technology Center principal payments
Amortization of discounts
Accretion of bond premium

$(ss,ooo)
(35,624)
620,000

30,597
(8,983)
5.759

Change in net position of governmental activities

556.749

$33¿,549

See accompanying notes to thc basic financial statements.
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Assets

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents

Due from other governments

Other receivables

Inventory

Total current assets

Noncurrent assets:

Machinery and equipment, net

Total noncurrent assets

Total assets

Deferred Outllows of Resources

Total assets and deferred outflows ofresources

Liabilities
Current liabilities:

Due to other funds
Accounts payable

Unearned revenue

Current portion of compensated absences

Total current liabilities

Noncurrent liabilities :

Long-term portion of compensated absences

Total noncurrent liabilities

Total liabilities

Deferred Inflows of Resources

Net Position
Invested in capital assets

Unrestricted

Total net position

Total liabilities, deferred inflows of resources, and net position

Shanksville-Stonycreek School District
Statement of Net Position

Proprietary Fund
June 30,2014

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
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Food
Service

$ 13,408

9,990
5

5,228

28,631

11,825

11,825

40,456

0

q_j0,456.

s 14,646

409

4,743

494

20,292

2,478

2,478

22,770

0

11,825

5,861

17,686

q_41s6.



Shanksville-Stonycreek School District
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Position

Proprietary Fund
For the Year Ended June 30, 2014

Operating revenues

Food service revenue

Total operating revenues

Operating expenses

Salaries

Employee benefits
Purchased property services

Other purchased service

Supplies

Depreciation

Dues and fees

Total operating expenses

Operating income (loss)

Nonoperating revenues (expenses)

Earnings on investnents
State sources

Federal sources

Contributions and transfers

Transfers in (out)

Total nonoperating revenues (expenses)

Income (loss) before transfers

Food
Service

ç 99,334

99,334

66,023
77,740

8,275

360

87,137

5,066

200

244,901

(145,467)

5

5,277

67 l8

72,698

(72,769)

60,000

(12,769)

30,455

$___rz4q

Change in net position

Total net position, beginning of year

Total net position, end ofyear

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
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Shanksville-Stonycreek School District
Statement of Cash Flows

Proprietary Fund
For the Year Ended June 30, 2014

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash received from users

Cash payments to employees for services

Cash payments to suppliers for goods and services

Net cash provided by (used for) operating activities

Cash flows from non-capital financing activities
State sources

Federal sources

Transfers in

Net cash provided by (used for) non-capital financing activities

Cash flows from investing activities
Earnings on invesünents

Net cash provided by (used for) investing activities

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning ofyear

Cash and cash equivalents, end ofyear

Reconciliation of operating income (loss) to net cash provided by (used

for) operating activities:

Operating income (loss)

Adjustrnents to reconcile operating income (loss) to net cash provided by
(used for):

Depreciation
(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable
(Increase) decrease in inventories
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable

Increase (decrease) in advances from other funds

Increase (decrease) in unearned revenue

Total adjusfrnents

Net cash provided by (used for) operating activities

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statemsnts.
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Food
Service

$ 99,409
(56,472)

(173,265)

(130,328)

5,191

65,779

60,000

130,970

I

645

763

qi3,4!.

g (145,467)

5,066
(s)

38

819

9,140
8l

15,139

qlEçzq)

3
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Shanksville-Stonycreek School District
Statement of Fiduciary Net Position

Fiduciary Funds
June 30,2014

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Other current assets

Total assets

Deferred Outllows of Resources

Total assets and deferred outflows ofresources

Liabilities
Due to students

Total liabilities

Deferred Inflows of Resources

Net Position

Total liabilities, deferred inflows of resources,

and net position

Agency
Fund

$ 31,978

3,200

35,178

$ 35,178

$ 35,178

35,178

$_is,r7!.

0

0

0

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
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Shanksville-Stonycreek School District
Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2014

1. Description of School District and Reporting Entity

The Shanksville-Stonycreek School District is a Local Education Agency of the third class, governed by a nine-
member publicly elected board, located in Somerset County, Pennsylvania. The District provides educational
services to approximately 500 students from Shanksville Borough, Indian Lake Borough and Stonycreek
Township. The District's facility is contained within one building. The District also participates in a local area

vocationaVtechnical school with various other districts.

A reporting entity is comprised of the primary government, component units and other organizations that are

included to ensure that the basic financial statements of the School District are not misleading. The primary
government consists of all funds, departments, boards and agencies that are not legally separate from the School
District. For Shanksville-Stonycreek School District, this includes general operations, food service, and student
related activities of the School District.

Component units are legally separate organizations for which the School District is financially accountable or
other organizations whose nature and significant relationship with the School District are such that exclusion
would cause the School District's financial statements to be misleading. Financial accountability is defined as

the appointment of a voting majority of the component unit's board, and (1) either the School District's ability
to impose its will on the organization or (2) there is potential for the organization to provide a financial benefit
to or impose a financial burden on the School District. The School District has no component units.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The financial statements of the School District have been prepared in conformity with generally accepted
accounting principles (GAAP) as applied to local governmental units. The Governmental Accounting
Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard-setting body for establishing govenìmental accounting and
financial principles. The more significant of these accounting policies are described below.

A. Basis of Presentation

The School District's basic financial statements consist of government-wide statements, including a

statement of net position and a statement of activities, and fund financial statements which provide a more
detailed level of financial information.

Government-wide Financial Statements

The statement of net position and the statement of activities display information about the School District
as a whole. These statements include the financial activities of the primary govenìment, except for
fiduciary funds.
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The statement of net position presents the financial condition of the governmental and business-type
activities of the School District aÍ year end. The statement of activities presents a comparison between
direct expenses and program revenues for each program or function of the School District's governmental
and business-type activities. Direct expenses are those that are specifically associated with a service,
program or department and therefore clearly identifiable to a particular function. Program revenues
include charges paid by the recipient of goods and services offered by the program, grants and

contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular program.
Revenues which are not classified as program revenues are presented as general revenues of the School
District. The comparison of direct expenses with program revenues identifies the extent to which each

business segment or governmental function is self-financing or draws from the general revenues of the
School District.

Fund Financial Statements

Fund financial statements are also provided in the report for all governmental funds, proprietary funds, and
the fiduciary funds of the School District. Major individual governmental funds and major individual
enterprise funds are reported as separate columns in the fund statements. Non-major funds are aggregated
and presented in a single column. Fiduciary funds are reported by fund type.

B. Fund Accounting

The School District usçs funds to maintain its financial record during the year. A fund is defined as a {iscal
and accounting entity with a self balancing set of accounts. There are three categories of funds;
governmental, proprietary and fiduciary.

Governmental Funds

Governmental funds are those through which most governmental functions typically are financed.
Governmental fund reporting focuses on the sources, uses and balances of current financial resources.

Expendable assets are assigned to the various governmental funds according to the purposes for which they
may or must be used. Current liabilities are assigned to the fund from which they will be paid. The
difference between governmental fund assets and liabilities is reported as fund balance. The following are

the School District's major govemmental funds:

General Fund - The general fund is the operating fund of the School District and is used to account for all
financial r€sources except those required to be accounted for in another fund.

Debt Service Fund - Açcounts for resources accumulated to provide for payment of general long-term debt
principal and interest.

The other governmental funds of the School District account for grants and other resources whose use is
restricted to a particular purpose.

Proprietary Funds

Proprietary funds focus on the determination of net position, changes in net position and cash flows and are

classified as either internal service or enterprise funds. Internal service funds account f-or the financing of
services provided by one department or agency to other departments or agencies of the School District.
There are no internal service funds. Enterprise funds may be used to account for any activity for which a

fee is charged to external users for goods and services. The following is the School District's major
enterprise fund:
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Food Service Fund - This fund accounts for the financial transactions related to the food service operation
of the School District.

Fidusiary Fund

Fiduciary fund reporting focuses on net position and changes in net position. The fiduciary fund category
is split into four classifications: pension trust funds, investment trust funds, private-purpose trust funds and
agency funds. Trust funds are used to account for assets held by the School District under a trust
agreement for individuals, private organizations, or other governments and are therefore not available to
support the School District's oìiln programs. The School District has no private purpose trust funds. The
agency fund is custodial in nature (assets equal liabilities) and does not involve measurement of results of
operations. The School District's agency fund accounts for those student activity programs which have
student participation in the activity and have students involved in the management of the program.

C. Measurement Focus

Government-wide Financial Statements

Government-wide financial statements are prepared using the economic resources measurement focus. All
assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities and deferred inflows of resources associated with the
operation of the School District are included on the statement of net position.

Fund Financial Statements

Fund financial statements are accounted for using a flow ofcurrent financial resources measurement focus.
V/ith this measurement focus, only current assets and current liabilities generally are included on the
balance sheet. The statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances reports on the
sources (i.e. revenues and other financing sources) and uses (i.e. expenditures and other financing uses) of
current financial resources. This approach differs from the manner in which the governmental activities of
the government-wide financial statements are prepared. Governmental fund financial statements therefore
include a reconciliation with brief explanations to better identify the relationship between the government-
wide statements and the statements for governmental funds.

Like the government-wide statements, the proprietary fund is accounted for on a flow of economic
resources measurement focus. All assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities and deferred inflows of
resources associated with the operation of these funds are included on the statement of net position. The
statement of changes in fund net position presents increases (i.e. revenues) and decreases (i.e. expenses) in
net position. The statement of cash flows provides information about how the School District finances and
meets the cash flow needs of its proprietary activities.

Proprietary fund types distinguish operating revenues and expenses from non-operating items. Operating
revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in
connection with a proprietary fund's principal ongoing operation. The principal operating revenues of the
Food Service fund are charges for sales and services. Operating expenses for proprietary funds include the
cost of sales and services and administrative expenses. All revenues and expenses not meeting this
definition are reported as non-operating revenues and expenses.

Fiduciary funds are reported using the economic resources measurement focus.
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D. Basis of Accounting

Basis of accounting determines when transactions are recorded in the financial records and reported on the
financial statements. Government-wide financial statements are prepared using the accrual basis of
accounting. Governmental funds use the modified accrual basis of accounting. Proprietary and fiduciary
funds also use the accrual basis of accounting. Differences in the accrual and the modified accrual basis of
accounting arise in the recognition ofrevenue, the recording ofunearned revenue and deferred inflows and
outflows of resources, and in the presentation of expenses versus expenditures. Unearned revenues are

addressed in Note 2L, and deferred inflows/outflows of resowces in Note 2M.

Revenues - Exchange and Non-Exchange Transactions

Revenue resulting from exchange transactions, in which each party gives and receives essentially equal
value, is recorded on the accmal basis when the exchange takes place. On a modified accrual basis,
revenue is recorded in the fiscal year in which the resources are measurable and become available.
Available means that the resources will be collected within the current fiscal year or are expected to be
collected soon enough thereafter to be used to pay liabilities of the current fiscal year. For the School
District, available means expected to be received within sixty days of fiscal year-end.

Non-exchange transactions, in which the School District receives value without directly giving equal value
in return, include income taxes, property taxes, grants, entitlements and donations. Revenue from property
taxes is recognized in the fiscal year for which the taxes are levied (see Note 5). Revenue from grants,

entitlements and donations is recognized in the fiscal year in which all eligibility requirements have been
satisfied. Eligibility requirements include timing requirements, which specify the year when the resources
are required to be used or the year when use is first permitted; matching requirements, in which the School
District must provide local resources to be used for a specified purpose; and expenditure requirements, in
which the resources are provided to the School District on a reimbursement basis. On a modified accrual
basis, revenue from non-exchange transactions must also be available before it can be recognized.

Under the modified accrual basis, the following revenue sources are considered to be both measurable and
available at year end: property taxes available as an advance, interest, tuition, grants, fees and rentals.

Expense s/Expenditure s

On the accrual basis of accounting, expenses are recognized at the time they are incurred.

The measurement focus of governmental fund accounting is on decreases in net financial resources
(expenditures) rather than expenses. Expenditures are generally recognized in the accounting period in
which the related fund liability is incurred, if measurable. Allocations of cost, such as depreciation and
amortization, are not recognized in governmental funds.

E. Budgetary Data

An operating budget is adopted each year for the General Fund on a modified accrual basis of accounting.

The Pennsylvania School Code dictates specific procedures relative to adoption of the School District's
budget and reporting of its financial statements, specifically:

The School District, before levying annual school taxes, is required to prepare an operating budget for the
succeeding fiscal year.
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The School District is required to adopt a proposed budget at least thirty (30) days prior to adoption ofthe
annual budget. The proposed budget shall be printed or otherwise made available for public inspection to
all persons and shall be made available for duplication to any person, on request, at least twenty (20) days
prior to the date set for the adoption of the budget. Final action shall not be taken on the proposed budget
until after ten (10) days ofpublic notice.

The Board of Directors may make transfers of funds appropriated to any particular item of expenditure by
legislative action. An affirmative vote of two-thirds of all members of the board is required. The amounts
reported as the original budgeted amounts in the budgetary statements reflect the amounts in the certihcate
when the original appropriations were adopted. The amounts reported as the final budgeted amounts in the
budgetary statements reflect the amounts in the final amended certificate issued during fiscal year 2014.

Fund balances in budgetary funds may be appropriated based on resolutions passed by the Board of
Education, which authorized the School District to make expenditures. Appropriations lapse at the end of
the fiscal period. In order to preserve a portion of an appropriation for which an expenditure has been
committed by a purchase order contraçt or other form of commitment, an encumbrance is recorded.

Included in the General Fund budget are program budgets as prescribed by the State and Federal agencies
funding the program. These budgets are approved on a program by program basis by the State or Federal
funding agençy.

An Enterprise fund budget is not adopted; however, a formal budget is prepared and approved by
management and expenditures are controlled on the basis of this budget.

F. Prepaid ltems

Payments made to vendors for services that will benefit periods beyond June 30, 2014, are recorded as

prepaid items using the consumption method. A current asset for the prepaid amount is recorded at the
time of the purchase and an expenditure/expense is reported in the year in which services are consumed.

G. Inventory

On government-wide financial statements inventories are presented at the lower of cost or market on a first-
in, first-out basis and are expensed when used.

Inventories in governmental funds are stated at cost by the first-in, first-out method and consist of supplies
held for consumption. The purchase method is used to account for inventories. Under the purchase method,
inventories are recorded as an expenditure when purchased; however, an estimated value of inventories
($15,253) is reported as an asset in the General Fund. The inventories in the General Fund are equally
offset by nonspendable fund balance which indicates they do not constitute "available spending resources"
even though they are a component ofnet current assets.

Aphysical inventory of the Food Service Fund food and supplies was taken as of June 30,2014. The
inventory consisted of government donated commodities which are valued at estimated fair market value,
and purchased commodities and supplies, both valued at cost using first-in, first-out (FIFO) method. Any
unused commodities donated by the federal government at June 30,2014 are reported as unearned revenue.
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H. Capital Assets

General capital assets result from expenditures in the governmental funds. These assets are reported in the
goverffnental activities column of the government-wide statement of net position but are not reported in the

fund financial statements. Capital assets used by the proprietary fund are reported in both the business-type

activities column on the government-wide statem€nt of net position and in the fund financial statements.

All capital assets are capitalized at cost (or estimated historical cost) and updated for additions and

retirements during the year. Donated fixed assets are recorded at their fair market values as of the date

received. The School District maintains a capitalization threshold of fifteen hundred (S1,500) dollars.
The School District does not possess any infrastructure. Improvements are capitalized; the costs of
normal maintenancc and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially extend an asset's
life are not capitalized.

All reported capital assets except for land and construction in progress are depreciated. Improvements
are depreciated over the remaining useful lives of the related capital assets. Depreciation is computed
using the straight-line method over the following useful lives:

l)escrinfion Fqfim¡fer{ Lives

Site Improvements
Buildings and Improvements
Fumiture and Equipment

15 - 20 years
20 - 50 years

3 - 20 years

I. Original Issue Discounts and Premiums

Bond premiums and discounts are reported as direct adjustments to the face amount of the bond and are

defened and amortized over the life of the bond using the straight-line method of amortization.

J. Receivables and Payables

Transactions between funds that are representative of lending/borrowing arrangements outstanding at the

end of the fiscal year are rcferred to as either "due to/from other funds" (i.e. the current portion of interfund
loans) or "advances tolfrom other funds" (i.e. the non-cuffent portion of interfund loans). Any residual
balances outstanding between the governmental activities and business-type activities are reported in the
goverûnent-wide financial statements as "internal balances." In governmental fund financial statements,

advances between funds are offset by an amount reported as nonspendable fund balance to indicate that
they are not available for appropriation and are not expendable available financial resourçes.

All receivables are determined to be collectible, and no allowance has been established.

Receivables from and payables to external parties are reported separately and are not offset in the
proprietary fund financial statements and business-type activities of the government-wide financial
statements, unless a right of offset exists.

K Accrued Liabilities and Long-term Obligations

All payables, accrued liabilities and long-term obligations are reported in the government-wide financial
statements, and all payables, accrued liabilities and long-term obligations payable from proprietary funds

are reported on the proprietary fund financial statements.
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In general, governmental fund payables and accrued liabilities that, once incurred, are paid in a timely
manner and in full from current financial resources, are reported as obligations of the funds. However,
claims and judgments, compensated absences, special termination benefits and contractually required
pension contributions that will be paid from governmental funds are reported as a liability in the fund
financial statements only to the extent that they are due for payment during the current year. Bonds and
notes are recognized as a liability on the fund financial statements when due.

L. Unearned Revenues

The District reports unearned revenue on its government-wide and fund financial statements. Unearned
revenues arise when potential revenue does not meet both the oomeasurable" and ooavailable" criteria for
recognition in the current period (fund financial statements). Unearned revenues also arise when resources
are uneamed by the District and received before it has a legal claim to them, as when grant monies are

received prior to the incurrence of qualifying expenditures (fund financial statements and government-wide
financial statements). In subsequent periods, when both revenue recognition criteria are met, or when the
District has a legal claim to the resources, the liability for unearned revenue is removed from the applicable
financial statement and revenue is recognized.

M. Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources

In addition to assets, the statement of financial position reports a separate section for deferred outflows of
resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred outflows of resources, represents a

consumption of net position or fund balance that applies to a future period(s) and thus, will not be
recognized as an outflow ofresources (expense/expenditure) until then. The District currently reports no
deferred outfl ows of resources.

In addition to liabilities, the statement of financial position reports a separate section for deferred inflows of
resources. This separate financial statement element, dcferred inflows of resources, represents an
acquisition of net position or fund balance that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized as

an inflow of resources (revenue) until that time. The District has one item, which arises only under a

modified accrual basis of accounting, that qualifies for reporting in this category. Accordingly, unavailable
revenue from delinquent taxes receivable of$516,036, is reported as a deferred inflow ofresources on the
governmental funds balance sheet only.

N. Fund Balance Classifïcation

GASB Statement No. 54, o'Fund Balance Reporting qnd Governmental Fund Type Definitions," provides
more clearly defined fund balance categories to make the nature and extent of the constraints placed on a
govemment's fund balances more transparent. The following classifications describe the relative strength
of the spending constraints:

. Nonspendable Fund Balance - amounts that are not in nonspendable form (such as inventory or
prepaid items) or are required to be maintained intact.

. Restricted Fund Balance - amounts constrained to specific purposes by their providers (such as

grantors, bondholders, and higher levels of government), through constitutional provisions, or by
enabling legislation.
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. Committed Fund Balance - amounts constrained to specific purposes by the District itself, using its
highest level of decision-making authority (i.e., School Board). To be reported as committed,
amounts cannot be used for any other purpose unless the District takes the same highest level action
to remove or change the constraint.

. Assigned Fund Balance - amounts the District intends to use for a specific purpose. Intent can be
expressed by the School board or by an official or body to which the School Board delegates the
authority.

. Unassigned Fund Balance - amounts that are available for any purpose. Positive amounts are
reported only in the general fund.

As of June 30,2014, fund balance components, other than unassigned, consist of the following:

Nonspendable Restricted Committed
General Fund:

Inventory
Future retirement costs
Technology replacement
Curriculum enhancement
Post-employment benefits
Debt service

Debt Service Fund
Capital Projects Fund

Total

sSl 5,253
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0

82

$0
400,000
230,000
200,000
400,000
850,000

0I2
0 tt2.t62 0

$t5253 $!!4314 $2-080-000

The School Board establishes (and modifies or rescinds) fund balance commitments by resolution of the
board. A fund balance commitment is further indicated in the budget document as a commitment of the
fund. Assigned fund balance is established by the Business Manager and/or Superintendent as delegated by
the School Board.

The District would typically use Restricted fund balances first, followed by Committed resources, and then
Assigned resources, as appropriate opportunities arise, but reserves the right to selectively spend
Unassigned resources first to defer the use of these other classified funds.

O. Net Position

Net position represents the difference between assets and deferred outflows of resources, and liabilities and
deferred inflows of resources. Net position invested in capiøl assets, net of related debt consists of capital
assets, net ofaccumulated depreciation, reduced by the outstanding balances ofany borrowings used for the
acquisition, construction or improvement of those assets. Net position is reported as restricted when there
are limitations imposed on its use either through the enabling legislation adopted by the School District or
through external restrictions imposed by creditors, grantors or laws or regulations of other governments.

When both restricted and un¡estricted resources are available for use, it is the District's policy to use
restricted resources first, then unreshicted resources as they are needed.

The govemment-wide statement of net position reports $114,344 of restricted net position, of which
S112,162 is restricted by enabling legislation for Capital Projects and $2,182 by bond indenture for Debt
Service.
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P. Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts
reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results may differ from those
estimates.

Q. Pension PIan

Substantially all full-time and part-time employees of the District participate in a cost-sharing multiple
employer defined benefit pension plan. GASB Statement No. 27, Accounting for Pensions by State ønd
Local Governmental Employers, requires an employer that participates in such a plan to recognize annual
pension expenditures or expenses equal to its contractually required contributions, subject to the modified
accrual basis of accounting in govemmental funds. (That is, if contributions from governmental funds are
required but not made, the difference would not be reported as an expenditure but as a long-term liability if
not payable with expendable, available financial resources.) The District made all required contributions
for the year ended June 30, 2014, and has recognized them as expenditures and expenses in the
governmental and proprietary funds, respectively.

3. Cash and Cash Equivalents and Investments

Under Section 440.1 of the Public School Code of 1949, as amended, the District is permitted to invest its
monies as follows:

Obligations of (a) the United States of America or any of its agencies or instrumentalities backed
by the full faith and credit of the United States of America, (b) the Commonwealth of
Pennsylvania or any of its agencies or instrumentalities backed by the full faith and credit of the
Commonwealth, or (c) any political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania or any of
its agencies or instrumentalities backed by the full faith and credit of the political subdivision.

Deposits in savings or time deposits or share accounts of institutions insured by the Federal
Deposit Insurance Corporation to the extent that such accounts ar€ so insured and, for any
amounts above the insured maximum, provided that approved collateral as provided by law is
pledged by the depository.

The deposit and investment policy of the school district adheres to state statutes and prudent business practice.
Cash equivalents are defined as short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known
amounts of cash and include investments with original maturities of three months or less. Cash and cash
equivalents consist of demand deposits at local financial institutions, money market mutual fund investments
with Pennsylvania Local Government Investment Trust (PLGIT) and the Pennsylvania School District Liquid
Asset Fund (PSDLAF), and cash on hand of $300. The market values of deposits are equal to the cost of the
deposits. The investments are stated at cost including accrued interest which approximates market value.

The District invests in the Pennsylvania School District Liquid Asset Fund (PSDLAF) and the Pennsylvania
Local Government Investment Trust (PLGIT) as authorized by the Board. PSDLAF was established to enable
school districts to pool funds for investment in instruments authorized by Section 440.1 of the Pennsylvania
School Code of 1949, as amended. PLGIT insures that it will not place deposits with any single issuing
institution if the largest participant's pro rata share of such deposits exceeds insurance limits unless such
deposits are collateralized as prescribed by Act 72 of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania. These funds have
the characteristics of open-end mutual funds and are not subject to credit risk classification.
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The District's investments include a long-term certificate of deposit with a local financial institution.

Cash

Custodial Credit Risk - Deposits

Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the District's deposits may not be returned to
it. The District does not have a policy for custodial credit risk, however the Dishict's deposits in excess of the
FDIC limit are collateralized in accordance with the Pennsylvania Security for Public Deposit Act. As of June
30,2014,52,644,777 of the District's bank balance of 83,394,777 was exposed to custodial risk as:

Uninsured and uncollate rulize d
Collateralized with securities held by the pledging fìnancial institution
Uninsured and collateral held by the pledging bank's trust department
not in the District's name

Total

Reconciliation to Financial Statements

Uninsured amount above
Plus: Insured amount
Plus: Deposits in transit
Less: Outstanding checks
Carrying amount - bank balances
Plus: Petty cash

Pooled cash equivalents
Less: Certificate of deposit considered investment

Total cash per financial statements

Investments

As of June 30,2014, the District had the following investments:

Investment Maturity

N/A
N/A

l2 months

$

2.644.777

vÁ44J11

s2,644,777
750,000

673
(80"37e)

3,315,071
300

1,780,270
(248.249)

84Å47392

Fair Value

s1,407,228
373,042
248.249

0
0

PA School District Liquid Asset Fund
PA Local Government Investment Trust
Certificate of Deposit

Total $2-028Jr9

Interest Rate Risk

The District does not have a formal investment policy that limits investment maturities as a means of managing
its exposure to fair value losses arising from increasing interest rates.
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Credit Risk

The District has no investment policy that would limit its investment choices to certain credit ratings. As of
June 30, 2014,lhe District's investments were rated as:

Standard & Poor's

Concentration of Credit Risk

The District places no limit on the amount the District may invest in any one issuer

Custodial Credit Risk

For an investment, custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty, the District
will not be able to recover the value of its investments or collateral security that are in possession of an outside

party. The District has no investment subject to custodial credit risk.

Reconciliation to Financial Statements

PA Local Government Trust
PA School District Liquid Asset Fund

Total investments above
Less: Deposits in investment pool considered cash equivalents
Total investments per financial statements

July I
Julyl-August3l
September I - October 31

Novemberl -December3l
January l5

- Lery Date
- 20% Discount Period
- Face Payment Period
- 5"/oPenalty Period
- Lien Date

$ 2,028,519
(.1.780.270',1

s 248-249

4. Real Estate Taxes

Real estate taxes for the School District are collected from the Township of Stonycreek and the Boroughs of
Indian Lake and Shanksville. The tax on real estate for public school purposes for fiscal 2014 was 35.78 mills
($35.73 per $1,000 of assessed valuation) as levied by the Board. Assessed valuations ($96,233,410) of
property are determined by Somerset County and the elected tax collectors are responsible for collection. The

schedule for real estate taxes levied for each fiscal year is as follows:

5. Taxes Receivable

The elected tax collectors are required to return any uncollected real estate taxes to the county's tax claim
bureau by January 15. It has been determined the amount of outstanding taxes as of June 30,2014 is$572,529.
The School District, in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United Søtes of
America, recognized the delinquent and unpaid taxes receivable. An allowance for uncollectible taxes was not

established by the administration. A portion of the amount estimated to be collectible which was measurable

and available within 60 days was recognized as revenue and the balance recorded as a deferred inflow of
resources in the fund financial statements.
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Uncollected taxes for the year ended June 30, 2014:

Delinquent Real Estate
Interim Real Estate
Realty Transfer Tax
Eamed Income Taxes

s 30,466
3,516

13,353
9.158

Uncollected Taxes Recognized
as Revenue (received within 60 days) 56,493

516.036

s512-5D

Real Estate Tax-Deferred Inflow of Resources

Total Taxes Receivable

6. Unearned Revenue

Uneamed revenue arises when assets are recognized before revenue recognition criteria have been satisfied.

Unearned revenue in the food service fund ($4,743) represents credits on student cafeteria accounts (fi2,225)
and donated commodities inventory on hand ($2,518) at June 30,2014.

7. I)ue From Other Governments

Amounts due from other governments represent receivables for revenues earned by the School District or
collections made by another govemmental unit on behalf of the School District. At June 30, 2014, the
following amounts are due from other governmental units:

Due From General Fund Propriet¿ry Fund

Federal
State
Local

s147,180
85,541
49.472

s282-193

$9,161
829

0

$9990
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8. Capital Assets

Capiøl asset activity for the fiscal year ended June 30,2014, was as follows:

Beginning
Balance Additions Deductions

Ending
Balance

Governmental Activities
Capital assets, not being depreciated:

Land

Total capital assets, not being depreciated

Capital assets, being depreciated:

Site improvements

Buildings and improvements

Furniture and equipment

Total capital assets, being depreciated

Less accumulated depreciation:
Site improvements

Buildings and improvements

Furniture and equipment

Total accumulated depreciation

Total capital assets, being depreciated, net

Governmental activities capital assets, net

s 24,792 $

24,792

843,204

8,933,543
1,073,892

10,850,639 69,566

566,525

4,164,166

866,446

5,597,137

5,253,502

s 5,278,294

Business-Type Activities
Capital assets, being depreciated:

Equipment

Total capital assets, being depreciated

Less accumulated depreciation:

Equipment

Total accumulated depreciation

s 234,542 $

234,542

217,651

217,651

Business-type activities capital assets, net $ 16,891

0$ 0 $ 24,792

0 0 24 792

0

0

69,566

843,204
8,933,543
1,143,458

0 10,920,205

608,774

4,420,484

925,328

0 5,954,586

0 4,965,619

$ 0 $ 4,990,4tr

0

0

0

42,249
256,318

58,882

357,449

(287,883)

il?qzI!Ð

0

0

0

0$ 0 $ 234,542

234,54200

5,066

5,066

$___Éqqo

0 222,717

0 222,7t7

$ 0 $ 11,825

Depreciation expense was charged to functionsþrograms of the primary governÍient as follows:

Governmental Activities:
Instruction
Instruction support
A<lministration and finance
Operation and maintenance of plant
Pupil transportation
Student activities

Total depreciation expense - goverrìmental activities

s211,252
36,102
53,260
33,243
16,800
6.792

ffi51AÆ
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9. Defïned Benefit Pension Plan

Plan Description

The District contributes to a governmental cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan
administered by Pennsylvania Public School Employee's Retirement System (PSERS). Benefit provisions of
the plan are established under the provisions of the Pennsylvania Public School Employees' Retirement Code
(the Code) and may be amended by an ac| of the Perursylvania State Legislature. The plan provides retirement
and disability, legislatively mandated ad hoc cost-of-living adjustments, and healthcare insurance premium
assistance to qualifying annuitants. It also provides for refunds of a member's accumulated contribution upon
termination of a member's employment in the public school sector. PSERS issues a publicly available financial
report that includes financial statements for the plan. That report may be obtained by writing to Diane J. Wert,
Office of Financial Management, Public School Employees' Retirement System, 5 N. 5d'Sfeet, Harrisburg, PA,
17101-1905. This report is also available on the publications section of the PSERS website at
www.psers. state.pa.us.

Fundine Policv

The contribution policy is set by the Code and requires contributions by active members, employers, and the

Commonwealth.

Contribution rates:

Member contributions -

Active members who joined PSERS prior to July 22, 1983, contribute at 5.25o/o (Membership
Class T-C) or af 6.500/o (Membership Class T-D) of the member's qualifuing compensation.

Members who joined PSERS on or after July 22, 1983, and who were active or inactive as of July
l, 2001, contribute at 6.25Yo (Membership Class T-C) or at 7 .50Yo (Membership Class T-D) of the
member's qualifying compensation.

Members who joined PSERS after June 30, 2001 and before July I , 201 I , contribute ai 7 .50o/o

(automatic Membership Class T-D). For all new hires and for members who elected Class T-D
membership, the higher contribution rates began with service rendered on or after January 1,2002.

Members who joined PSERS after June 30,2011, automatically contribute at the Membership
Class T-E rate of 7 .50%6 (base rate) of the member's qualiffing compensation. All new hires after
June 30,2011, who elect Class T-F membership, contribute atl0.30o/o (base rate) of the member's
qualifying compensation. Membership Class T-E and Class T-F are affected by a "shared risk"
provision in Act 120 of 2010 that in future fiscal years could cause the Membership Class T-E
contribution rate to fluctuate between 7 .50% and 9.50Yo and Membership Class T-F contribution
rate could fluctuate between 1030% and 12.30%o.
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Employer contributions - The contribution required of participating employers is based on an actuarial
valuation and is expressed as a percentage ofannual covered payroll during the period for which the amount is
determined. Before July l, 1995, the school district and the Commonwealth shared the employer contribution
rate equally. Since July l, 1995, the school districts are required to pay the entire employer contribution rate
and are reimbursed by the Commonwealth in an amount equal to the Commonwealth's share as determined by
the market valueþersonal income aid ratio (as defined n Act 29 of 1994), which is at least one-half of the total
employer rate. For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2014, the rate of the employer's contribution was 16.93
percent ofcovered payroll. The 16.93 percent rate is composed ofa pension contribution rate of 16.00 percent
for pension benefits and 0.93 percent for healthcare insurance premium assistance. Shanksville-Stonycreek
School District's contributions to PSERS for the years ending June 30, 2014,2013 and2012 were $411,295,
$298,130, and$211,497, respectively. Those amounts are equal to the required contribution for each year.

10. Post-employment Healthcare Benefits

The Public School Employees' Retirement System (PSERS) provides a health insurance premium assistance
program (premium assistance), a post-employment healthcare plan as defined in the Public School Employees'
Retirement Code and amended by Act 29. The program is available to all eligible annuitants who elect to
participate. Under this program, an employer contribution rate for premium assistance was established to
provide reserves in the Health Insurance Account that are sufficient for the payment of premium assistance

benefits.

Participating eligible annuitants are entitled to receive premium assistance payments equal to the lesser of $100
per month or their monthly insurance premium. In order to receive premium assistance, eligible annuitants
must obtain their health insurance through their employer or the System's Health Options Program (HOP), in
which the system acts as a conduit between the insurance companies and the eligible annuitant.

11. Postemployment Benefïts

From an accrual accounting perspective, the cost of postemployment healthcare benefits, like the cost of
pension benefits, should be associated with the periods in which the cost occurs, rather than in the future year
when it will be paid. In adopting the requirements of GASB Statement No. 45 during the year ended June 30,
2010, the District recognizes the cost of postemployment healthcare in the year lvhen employee services are
received, reports the accumulated liability from prior years, and provides information useful in assessing
potential demands on the District's future cash flows. Because the District adopted the requirements of GASB
Statement No. 45 prospectively, recognition of the liability accumulated from prior years will be phased in over
l5 years, commencing with the 2010 liability.

Plan Description

The District provides continuation of medical (PPO) and pharmacy benefits to employees who retire from the
District.
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Elieibility

Age and service requirements for retirement vary by group as shown below. No benefits are provided upon
termination of employment if retirement conditions are not met at termination. No benofits are provided to
surviving dependents upon death if employee has not retired.

Teachers: Eligibility for PSERS retirement (superannuation or early
retirement provisions), including at least 15 years with the
Shanksville-Stonycreek School District. Otherwise, eligible
to purchase coverage upon retirement after meeting the
requirements of Act ll0l43.

Administrators: Eligibility for PSERS retirement (superannuation or early
retirement provisions), including at least 15 years with the
Shanksville-Stonycreek School District. Otherwise, eligible
to purchase coverage upon retirement after meeting the
requirements of Act ll0l43.

Support Staff: Eligible to purchase coverage upon retirement after
completing 15 years of District service or meeting the
requirements of Act ll0l43.

Duration of Healthcare Benefits

Teachers: Retiree coverage continues until age 65, death or
qualification for Medicare if earlier. Spouse coverage
continues until age 65, death, qualification for Medicare, or
cessation of retiree coverage if earlier. Surviving spouses

receive the remaining District incentive, if any.

Administrators: Retiree coverage continues until age 65, or death or
qualification for Medicare if earlier. Spouse coverage
continues until age 65, death, qualification for Medicare, or
cessation of retiree coverage if earlier. Surviving spouses

receive ths remaining District incentive, if any.

Support Staff: Retiree coverage continues until age 65, or death or
qualification for Medicare if earlier. Spouse coverage
continues until age 65, death, qualification for Medicare, or
cessation of retiree coverage if earlier.

Participant Contributions

Teachers: Under the District incentive the retiree remits the PSERS
premium assistance amount. The District provides an
incentive amount of up to $6,000 annually for up to 6 years.
'l'he retiree and spouse are responsible for any additional
premium amounts. Prior retirees have a $4,500 or $6,500
incentive benefit, depending on date of retirement. Under
Act ll0l43 the retiree and/or spouse pay the full premium
amount.
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Administrators Under the District incentive the retiree remits the PSERS
premium assistance amount. The District provides an

incentive amount of up to $6,500 annually for up to 6 years.

The retiree and spouse are responsible for any additional
premium amounts. Under Act ll0l43 the retiree and/or
spouse pay the full premium amount.

Support Staff: Retiree andlor spouse pay the full premium amount.

All contracts with the District's union employees will be renegotiated at various times in the future and, thus,

costs and benefits are subject to change.

OPEB benefits are administered by District personnel. No separate financial statements are issued.

The number of participants as of July 1,2012, the effective date of the biennial OPEB valuation, follows. There
have been no significant changes in the number covered or the type ofcoverage since that date.

District

Active employees

Retired employees

Spouses of retired employees

Total

44

6

I

5l

Fundine Policy

The District currently pays for postemployment health care benefits on a pay-as-you-go basis, and these

financial statements assume that pay-as-you-go funding will continue.

Arurual Other Postemployment Benefit Cost

For the fiscal year ended June 30,2014, the District's annual OPEB cost (i.e., expense) of $79,435 is equal to

the Annual Required Contribution. Considering the District's arurual OPEB cost as well as the payment of
current health insurance premiums, which totaled $37,800, the result was an increase in the District's Net OPEB
Obligation of $41,635 for the year ended June 30, 2014.

District

Actuarial Accrued Liability (AAL)

Retired employees

Active employees

Unfunded actuarial accrued liability (UAAL)

Nonnal cost at begiruring of year

Amortization factor based on l5 years

Annual covered payroll

UAAL as o/o of covered payroll

$ I 17,100

390,600

$ 507 700

$ 26,600

9.96s3

To be determined

To be determined
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District

ARC Normal Cost

Amortization of UAAL

Annual required contribution (ARC)

Interest on Net OPEB Obligation

Adjustmentto ARC

Annual OPEB cost (expense)

Contribution for the fiscal year

Increase in Net OPEB Obligation

Net OPEB Obligation June 30, 2013

Net OPEB Obligation June 30, 2014

Percent of arurual OPEB cost contributed

$ 29,732

57,215

86,947

0

(7,st2')

79,435
(37,800)

41,635

94,816

$ 136,451

47.6%

The District's arurual OPEB cost, the percentage of annual OPEB cost contributed to the plan and the net OPEB
obligation ofthe fiscal years ending June 30, 2014,2013 and2012 for the benefits were as follows:

Year
Ended

Annual
OPEB Cosl

Percentage of
OPEB Cost

Contributed
Net OPEB
Oblieation

6/30/2014 g 79.43s 47.6% $ 136,4s1

6/30/2013 s 74.136 46.7% $ 94.816

6/30/2012 $ 89,8s3 55.8% $ 55,280

Actuarial Methods and Assumptions

Projections ofbenefits for financial reporting purposes are based on the substantive plan (the plan as understood
by the employer and plan members) and include the types of benefits provided at the time of each valuation and
the historical pattem of sharing benefit costs between the employer and plan members to that point. Most
included coverages are "communiiy-ratet'and annual premiums for community-rated coverages were used as a
proxy for claims costs without age adjustment. The unfunded acfuarial accrued liability is being amortized over
15 years on a closed level dollar basis, begiruring in fiscal year 2009-10.

The projection of future benefits for an ongoing plan involves estimates of the value of reported amounts and

assumptions about the probability of occurrence of fufure events far into the future. Actuarially determined
amounts are subject to continual revision as actual results are compared with past expectations and new
estimates are made about the fufure. The actuarial methods and assumptions used include techniques that are
designed to reduce the effects of short-term volatility in actuarial accrued liabilities and the actuarial value of
assets, consistent with the long-term perspective of the calculations.
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In the July 1,2012 actuarial valuation, the liabilities were computed using the projected unit credit method and
closed level dollar amortization. The actuarial assumptions utilized a 3.25o/o discount rate. Because the plan is
unfunded, reference to the general assets, which are short-term in nature (such as money market funds), was
considered in the selection of the 3.25% rate. The valuation assumes a 6.90/o healthcare cost trend increase for
fiscal year 2014-15, reduced by decrements to a rate of 5.4o/oby 2017.

12. Long-Term Obligations

During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2014, general long-term obligations changed as follows:

Bonds
Payable

Other
Long-term
Financing

Compensated

Absences

Total General

Long-term
Debt

Beginning of year

Additions
Principal retirement

Changes in compensated absences

End ofyear
Less: Current portion
Less: Original issue discount, net

Add: Original issue premium, net

Long-term liabilities

Year Ended

June 30,

$ 4,720,000
2,000,000
(620,000)

0

$ 419,153 $

0
(30,597)

0

$135,933 5,275,086
2,000,000
(650,597)

7,930

0

0

7,830

6,100,000
(2,610,000)

(38,559)

52,244

388,556
(29,988)

0

0

143,763
(14,209)

0

0

6,632,319
(2,654,197)

(38,559)

52,244

$ 3,503,685 $ 358,568 $ 129,554 $ 3,991,807

The future annual payments required to amortize all outstanding debt and obligations, except for the
compensated absences and the Technology Center debt, as of June 30, 2014, including total interest payments
are as follows:

General Obligation Bonds

$ 2,705,487
737,760

738,612

741,093
736,540

7 51,655

s 6,411,147

General Oblieation Bonds. Series of 2014

The District issued General Obligation Bonds, Series of 2014, daled June 10, 2014, in the principal amount of
$2,000,000. The proceeds of the bonds were used to advance refund the District's General Obligation Bonds,
Series of 2009 ($1,945,000) and to pay all costs incidental to the issuance of these bonds. The outstanding
balance of the Series of 2009 bonds and interest due was paid on September 2, 2014 and therefore included as a
current liability in both the fund and government-wide financial statements at June 30,2014. The present value
of the net economic gain the School District realized as a result of the advance refunding of the Series of 2009
bonds is 521,677. The bonds bear interest rates ranging ftom 0.25o/o to 2.0o/o with annual principal maturities
from September 2014 through September 2018. The balance outstanding at June 30,2014 was $2,000,000.
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2015
2016
2017

201 8

2019

2020

Interest

$ 95,487

67,760

58,6t2
46,093
31,540
11,655

$_ll_!.112

Principal Total
$ 2,610,000

670,000

680,000

695,000

705,000

740,000
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General Oblieation Bonds. Series of 2012

The District issued General Obligation Bonds, Series of 2012, dated March 15,2012, in the principal amount of
$1,535,000. The proceeds of the bonds were used to advance refund the District's General Obligation Bonds,
Series of2006 ($1,485,000) and to pay all costs incidental to ttre issuance ofthese bonds. The present value of
the net economic gain the School District realized as a result of the advance refunding of the Series of 2006
bonds is 553 ,7 14. The bonds bear interest rates ranging from 0 .35%o to I .5Yo with annual principal maturities
from September2012 through September 2017. The balance outstanding atJune 30,2014 was $1,060,000.

General Oblieation Bonds. Series of 201I

The District issued General Obligation Bonds, Series of 2011, dated June 15, 2011, tn the principal amount of
$1,110,000. The proceeds of the bonds were used to advance refund the District's General Obligation Bonds,
Series of200l ($1,015,000) and to pay all costs incidental to the issuance ofthese bonds. The present value of
the net economic gain the School District realized as a result of the advance refunding of the Series of 2001
bonds is $55,480. The bonds bear interest rates ranging from 2.80o/o to 3.15o/o with annual principal maturities
from September2012 through September 2019. The balance outstanding at June 30,2014 was $1,095,000.

General Obligation Bonds. Series of 2009

The District issued General Obligation Bonds, Series of 2009, dated March l, 2009, in the principal amount of
$3,565,000. The proceeds of the bonds were used to advance refund the District's General Obligation Bonds,
Series of 2002 and to pay all costs incidental to the issuance of these bonds. The bonds bear interest rates
ranging from 2.0o/o Io 3.3o/o with annual principal maturities from September 2009 through September 2018.
The balance outstanding at June 30,2014 was $1,945,000. This remaining balance is recognized as a current
liability in both the fund and government-wide financial statements as a result of the aforementioned refunding
through the Series of2014 bonds.

Other Long-Term Financing: Somerset County Technology Center

Other long-term liabilities at June 30,2014 include Shanksville-Stonycreek School District's estimated share of
the Series of 2011 General Obligation Note, related to the area vocational-technical school, issued in the
principal amount of $4,825,000. The proceeds of the note were used to refinance the Series 2004 State Public
School Building Authority Bonds. This debt service is shared by eight surrounding school districts including
Shanksville-Stonycreek School District.

The Series of 20 I I Note has a scheduled maturity of May 15, 2025. Interest is payable semi-annually on May
15th and November l5th, commencing on November 15,2011.

Shanksville-Stonycreek School District's prorated share of the scheduled debt service payments fluctuates
based on the estimated market value of the real estate within the District. The Commonwealth of Pennsylvania
establishes the annual debt allocation rate. Because ofthe fluctuating nature ofthe allocation rate, no schedule
of future debt payments is presented. However, the District did recognize an estimated current ($29,988) and
long-term ($358,568) liability for their estimated share of the future debt service principal payments. These
estimates are based on the District's 2013-2014 debt allocation rate of 10.20%. Accordingly, the Shanksville-
Stonycreek School District's share ofthe balance outstanding at June 30,2014 is $388,556.
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Accumulated Compensated Absences

In accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, the District
accrues liabilities for compensated absences. Compensated absences reflect the potential cost of sick leave
earned by employees as of June 30,2014. The School District allows all employees to accumulate their unused
sick leave. Upon retirement, employees shall receive separation benefits based upon the total days of unused
sick leave accumulated while in the employ of Shanksville-Stonycreek School District at the rate of $50 per day
for professional staff up to a maximum of 120 days and $15 per day for administrators and support staff up to a
maximum of 100 days.

The School District has computed a total liability of $143,763 at June 30, 2014 with $140,791 reflected in the
General Fund and 52,972 reflected in the proprietary fund. Due to the nature of the obligation for accrued
separation benefits, annual requirements to amortize such obligations are not determinable and have not been
presented.

General obligation bonds issued for governmental activity purposes are liquidated by the debt service fund.
Long-term financing agreements entered into for goverffnental activity purposes are liquidated by the general
fund. Compensated absences liabilities for governmental activities will be paid by the general fund; whereas
those related to business-type activities will be paid by the proprietary fund.

13. Operating Leases

The School District entered into noncancellable operating leases for copiers and a postage meter. Rental
expenditures under all operating lease agreements were 512,624. Future minimum rental payments required
under operating leases that have remaining lease terms as of June 30 are as follows:

Year Ended
June 30,

20ls
2016
2017
2018

Total minimum payments required

General Fund (Major Fund)
Enterprise Fund - Food Service (Major Fund)

Payment
9t2,624

12,251
I 1,133
4^639

$14-647

14. Interfund Transactions

The following is a summary of interfund receivables and payables at June 30,2014

Receivables
914,646

0

s14-646

Pavables
$0

14.646
$t4-Ø6

The School District typically pays food service employees and subsequently charges the Food Service Fund for
reimbursement in order to assist the fund in providing meals. The amount owed the District by Food Service at
June 30, 2014 represents summer wages.
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Interfund transactions during the year ended June 30, 2014 consisted of the following:

General Fund (Major Fund)
Debt Service Fund (Major Fund)

General Fund (Major Fund)
Capital Projects Fund (Non-Major Fund)

General Fund (Major Fund)
Enterprise Fund - Food Service (Major Fund)

Total

Transfer in
$0
733,901

0
7,020

0
60.000

$800.921

Transfer out
$733,901

0

7,020
0

60,000
0

$800p21

The School District pays its debt service out of the Debt Service Fund, therefore, the General Fund transfers
amounts each year to pay the annual debt service. The School District typically transfers funds each year from
the General Fund to the Capital Projects Fund to fund future capital improvements. Further, the General Fund
transfers funds to Food Service to assist in subsidizing operating expenditures, as needed.

15. Contingent Liabilities

Grant Programs

The School District participates in both state and federally assisted grant programs. These programs are subject
to program compliance audits by the grantors or their representatives. The School District is potentially liable
for any expenditures which may be disallowed pursuant to the term of these grant programs. Management is
not aware of any material items of noncompliance which would result in the disallowance of program
expenditures.

16. Self-Insurance - Medical Insurance

The School District is participating in the insurance consortium with the Bedford-Somerset Consortium to
provide for the medical care for eligible employees and their dependents. The consortium, which administers
the plan, monitors the School's deposit into the school district trust account to be held for the benefits described
above and Highmark Services, the plan administrator, processes and pays the claims. The consortium limits its
liability by stop-loss insurance coverage. Shanksville-Stonycreek School District's liability at June 30,2014,
for unpaid claims incurred prior to fiscal year end is not readily determinable. No liability has been recorded
for these claims at June 30,2014, as the District recognizes medical claim expenses as claims are paid.

17. Risk Management

The District is exposed to various risks of loss related to theft of, damage to, and destruction of assets; errors

and omissions; and natural disasters. The District has purchased various insurance policies to safeguard its
assets from risk of loss. Insurance coverage appears to be consistent with previous years. During the year
ended June 30,2014 and the two previous fiscal years, no settlements exceeded insurance coverage.
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18. Related Party Transactions

Intermediate Unit Participation
The District is a member of Appalachia Intermediate Unit 8. The District avails itself of various services
provided by this membership including special education, curriculum development, and certain internal service
functions. The total of services provided to Shanksville-Stonycreek School District for the year ended June 30,
2014 for Appalachia Intermediate Unit 8 programs amounted to $90,532. At June 30,2014, the District had a
balance due to Appalachia IU8 of $17,801.

Technoloe), Center School Participation
The School District governs, with seven other school districts, the Somerset County Technology Center. Each
district is represented on the Technology Center's school board. Students ofthe Shanlsville-Stonycreek School
District have available at the Technology Center courses and curriculums related to the technical training field.
The District's portion of tuition payments for its students attending the Technology Center for fiscal year 2014
amounted to $278,788.

19. Economic Dependency

Shanksville-Stonycreek School District receives approximately 38% of its revenue from the State of
Pennsylvania in the form of state subsidies. Changes in funding levels by the State could have a material effect
on future operations of the District.

20. Nonmonetary Transactions

The District receives one of its federal program subsidies by means of noncash transfer. The U.S. Department
of Agriculture, through the Pennsylvania Department of Agriculture, provides food commodities under the
National School Lunch Program. These nonmonetary commodity items are valued at market values and
recorded as revenue as received. The total food commodities donated by the federal government for the fiscal
year 2014 totaled $10,697.

21. Changes in Accounting Principles and Restatement of Net Position

For the year ended June 30, 2014, the District has implemented GASB Statement No. 65, Items Previously
Reported as Assets and Liabilities. This Statement establishes accounting and financial reporting standards that
reclassify, as deferred outflows of resources or deferred inflows of resources, certain items that were previously
reported as assets and liabilities.

In accordance with GASB 65, debt issuance costs, except any portion related to prepaid insurance costs, should
be recognized as an expense in the period incurred. Prior to the implementation of GASB 65, such costs were
deferred and amortized over the life of the debt. This change in accounting principle has resulted in a
restatement (decrease) of the District's net position, effective July l, 2013, in the amount of $130,433,
representing the unamortized deferred financing costs no longer meeting the definition of an asset.
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For the Year Ended June 30, 2014

Budgeted Amounts
Actual

(Budgetary
Basis)

Variance with Final
Budget Favorable

Original Final
Revenues

Local sources

State sources

Federal sources

Total revenues

Expenditures
Instruction:

Regular programs

Special programs

Vocational education programs

Other instructional programs

Community/junior college prograrns

Pre-kindergarten

Support services:

Pupil personnel

Instructional staff
Administration
Pupil health

Business

Operation and maintenance of plant
Student transportation
Other support services

Operation of noninstructional services

Student activities
Community services

Scholarships and awards

Capital outlay
Debt service:

Principal and interest

Total expenditures

Other financing sources (uses)

Transfers out

Budgetary reserve

Total other financing sources (uses)

Net change in fund balance

Fund balance, beginning ofyear

Fund balance, end ofyear

6,192,632 6,192,632 6,426,902

g 3,677,322

2,381,310
134,000

s 3,677,322

2,381,310
134,000

s 3,806,774
2,431,347

l gg,7g 1

$ 129,452
50,037

54,781

234,270

(5,962)
10,989

88,936

6,737

28,397

53,879

42,020
1,744

(6,716)

711,303

945,573

(42,921)
50,000

7,079

952,652

t30,892

2,779,660
504,950

320,000

I1,000
6,000

93,2s0

r55,300
398,82s
665,600

96,275

177,000

568,750

301,600

5,000

2,779,660
504,950

320,000

I 1,000

6,000

93,250

2,435,657
472,551
278,788

4,t96
3,455

81,757

344,003
32,399
41,212

6,804

2,545
11,493

155,300

398,825
665,600

96,275

177,000
568,750
301,600

5,000

161,262

387,836
576,664

89,538

148,603

514,871

259,580
3,256

133,400

1,700

4,000

20,000

133,400
1,700

4,000
20,000

32,380
(s7)
500

20,000

101,020

1,757

3,500

0

38,000 38,000 44 "/16

6,280,310 6,280,310 5,569,007

Excess(deficiency)ofrevenuesoverexpenditures $7,61.g) (87,678) 8s7,895

(758,000)
(50,000)

(758,000)
(50,000)

(800,921)
0

(808,000) (8o8,ooo) (800,921)

(895,678)

2,608,757

(895,678)

2,608,757

56,974

2,739,649

$1,

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements
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Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance
and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in

Accordance with Government Audítíng Standards

Independent Auditors' Report

To the Members of the Board
Shanksville-Stonycreek School District
P.O.Box 128
1325 Cornerstone Road
Shanksville, Pennsylvania I 5560-0 128

Vy'e have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and

the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Stqndards issued by the Comptroller
General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities,
each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of Shanksville-Stonycreek School District as of and
for the year ended June 30, 2014 arñ the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise
Shanksville-Stonycreek School District's basic financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated
December 29,2014.

fnternal Control Over Financial Reporting

In planning and perfonning our audit of the financial statements, we considered Shanksville-Stonycreek School
District's internal control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectíveness of the District's internal control. Accordingly, we do not
express an opinion on the effectiveness of Shanksville-Stonycreek School District's internal control.

A deficiency ín internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or
employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct
misstatements on a timely basis. A material wealçtess is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal
control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity's financial statements will
not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A, significant deficiency is a deficiency, or
combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to
merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section and

was not designed to identifr all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or significant
deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identiff any deficiencies in internal control that
we consider to be material weaknesses. However, rraterial weaknesses may exist that have not been identifred.

Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable as$rrance about whether Shanksville-Stonycreek School District's financial
statements are free of material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws,
regulations, contacts and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on
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the determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those
provisions was not an objective of our audit and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our
tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government
Auditing Støndards.

Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and the
results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control or on
compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing
Standards in considering the entþ's internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not
suitable for any other purpose.

l/"ø*e/d * ûÁt"."t- /O,
Kotzan CPA & Associates, P.C.
Johnstown, Pennsylvania
December 29,2014
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